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1.
Overview
The information contained in this document is applicable to all companies that are authorized to engage in the purchase of AT&T 21-state’s Local Wholesale products and services, including interconnection and the migration of end users via Local Number Portability (LNP).  Such companies are typically Competitive Local Exchange Carriers (CLECs), Wireless Service Providers (WSPs), and Interconnected VoIP Providers (IVPs).  Service Bureau Providers (SBPs) that issue orders on behalf of those companies and VoIP Positioning Centers (VPCs) are also covered by this document.
Before establishing a business relationship with AT&T 21-State to engage in Local Wholesale products or services, including Local Number Portability, ask yourself:  “Are you ready?”  Local Wholesale is not a retail environment.  Call center representatives are not standing by to take calls for the purpose of creating service orders or to provide coaching on how to create or correct a service request.  Instead, Local Wholesale is a self-service environment where each of the parties in a Local Wholesale transaction are expected to be able to create and submit their own service requests based upon established business rules that conform to industry standards and guidelines.
1.1 The AT&T Incumbent Local Exchange Companies

The following matrix identifies the affiliated AT&T Incumbent Local Exchange Companies (AT&T ILECs) and the states where they provide local services.  The companies are also aggregated into the regional footprint names used throughout this document.
	Total Footprint
	Regional Footprints
	ILECs

	AT&T 21-State
	AT&T 9 State or AT&T Southeast
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Alabama

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Florida

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Georgia

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Kentucky

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Louisiana

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Mississippi

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T North Carolina

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T South Carolina

	
	
	BellSouth Telecommunications, LLC d/b/a AT&T Tennessee

	
	AT&T 12-State
	AT&T Midwest
	Illinois Bell Telephone Company, LLC d/b/a AT&T Illinois

	
	
	
	Indiana Bell Telephone Company Incorporated d/b/a AT&T Indiana

	
	
	
	Michigan Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Michigan

	
	
	
	The Ohio Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Ohio

	
	
	
	and Wisconsin Bell, Inc. d/b/a AT&T Wisconsin

	
	
	AT&T Southwest
	Southwestern Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Arkansas

	
	
	
	Southwestern Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Kansas

	
	
	
	Southwestern Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Missouri

	
	
	
	Southwestern Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Oklahoma

	
	
	
	Southwestern Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Texas

	
	
	AT&T West
	Pacific Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T California

	
	
	
	Nevada Bell Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Nevada and AT&T Wholesale


1.2
Authorized Local Wholesale Partners and Customers

Before a company can begin the process of establishing a working relationship with an AT&T ILEC, it must become (or be in the process of becoming) a Competitive Local Exchange Carrier (CLEC), an authorized Interconnected VoIP Provider (IVP)
, a Wireless Service Provider (WSP) or a VoIP Provisioning Center (VPC).  Regulators determine which entities can engage directly in local exchange services:

· CLEC must be certified by a state public utility commission
· IVP must obtain a “Grant Public Notice” from the FCC that announces the auto-grant of IVP’s Numbering Authorization Application
· WSP must obtain a wireless license from the FCC
· VPC must obtain approval from the appropriate E911 authority(ies).
Service Bureau Providers (SBPs) that support CLECs, WSPs, or IVPs do not need to obtain regulatory authorization; however, SBPs must have a signed Letter of Authorization from each company it serves and that company must have the required regulatory authority.
2 Introduction
We are committed to negotiating in good faith and making access to our wholesale telecommunication offers and networks available in a non-discriminatory manner. We look forward to working with your company and would like you to share this Getting Started Guide with members of your organization, as it will serve to assist our companies in working together.
AT&T 21-State has produced training courses on how to interface with various back-office systems, applications, and tools for pre-ordering, ordering, order tracking, trouble reporting, and billing.  These courses are available to both existing and new participants; however, they are available only after a participant has signed an agreement with the AT&T ILEC(s) for Local Wholesale (including LNP and Interconnection).  Additionally, various industry fora exist for development of process, ordering, and billing standards/guidelines that a participant can use to become knowledgeable about Local Wholesale in general.

2.1
General Steps

The process for getting started follows the same general path for all.  Here are some steps to help you get started today:

1) Obtain the Required Regulatory Authority.

a. CLEC must obtain state certification

b. IVP must obtain a “Grant Public Notice” from the FCC announcing the auto-grant of its Numbering Authorization Application
c. WSP must obtain an FCC license to provide wireless service

d. VPC must obtain approval from the appropriate E911 Authority(ies)

e. SBP does not need regulatory authority however, it will need a Letter of Authorization from each company it will serve and that company must have the required authorization
2) Choose an Agreement and Request Negotiations
a. Companies that require regulatory authorization can begin negotiations while they are obtaining their certification, authorization, or license; however, their agreement will not become effective until such certification, authorization, or license has been obtained.
b. Fax or email a letter requesting negotiations.  The fax number and email address to send the letter is located in CLEC Online and instructions for locating the information are here.  For convenience, if you are a non-IVP trading partner, you can click here to download a form letter and if you are an IVP trading partner, you can click here.  The fax telephone number and the email address to return either form letter are contained within the form.

3) Complete a Profile
a. SBP and VPC do not complete a Profile.  SBP will use its customers’ IDs and passwords that are established based upon their customers’ completion of a profile.  VPC should contact its account manager.
b. WSP will use the Uniform Wireless Service Provider (WSP) Account Profile.  This profile is available from AT&T Prime Access and instructions for locating it are here.
c. CLEC and IVP will both use the Customer Profile.    The Customer Profile is an online application to create CLEC Profiles and IVP Profiles.  It is addressed further in the section below on Customer Profile.

d. WSPs should navigate to AT&T Prime Access and follow the instructions there for completing a Wireless Service Provider Profile (WSP Profile).

4) Educate your staff:

a. Request training on the OSS(s) you want to use.

b. Read the CLEC Handbook.  It was written originally for CLECs; however, it also applies to WSPs and IVPs that engage in LNP.  The Handbook provides a wealth of useful, time-saving and pertinent information that assists CLECs and IVPs in the methods and procedures for working with AT&T 21-State.

5) Obtain access to the OSSs, applications, and tools that support your business model.  A guide to available OSS, Applications, and tools is available in CLEC Online and instructions for finding that guide are located here.
6) Additional questions?  Our response to your negotiations request letter will include a negotiator assignment and contact number.  During negotiations you can direct any questions you have to the negotiator assigned to your account.

2.2
Finding a Service Bureau Provider (SBP)

Companies that want to use an SBP, but do not know which SBPs are available, can obtain a list of such SBPs from their SrCAM.
2.3
Finding a VoIP Positioning Center (VPC)
Companies that want to use a VPC, but do not know which VPCs are available, can try using the National Emergency Number Association’s (NENA’s) Company ID Database as all VPCs have a NENA Company ID.  IVPs can contact NENA at http://www.nena.org/.
3
Obtain Regulatory Authority
3.1
CLEC Certification
CLEC should check with the applicable State Commission to determine certification requirements, which must be met before submitting orders for live traffic to AT&T 21-State.

Contact numbers and addresses for each of the twenty-one (21) State Commissions are listed below.

	STATE
	REGULATORY AUTHORITY and ADDRESS
	TELEPHONE/WEBSITE ADDRESS

	Alabama
	Alabama Public Service Commission

100 N. Union Street

RSA Union, Suite 850

Montgomery, AL 36104
	(334) 242-5218

http://www.psc.state.al.us/

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box 304260
Montgomery, AL 36130
	

	Arkansas
	Arkansas Public Service Commission

1000 Center Street

Little Rock, AR 72201-4314
	(501) 682-2051

http://www.state.ar.us/psc/

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box C-400

Little Rock, AR 72203
	

	California
	California Public Utilities Commission

505 Van Ness Avenue

San Francisco, CA 94102
	(415) 703-2782 and (800)-848-5580

http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/

	Florida
	Florida Public Service Commission

2540 Shumard Oak Blvd

Tallahassee, FL 32399-0850
	(800) 342-3552

http://www.psc.state.fl.us/

	Georgia
	Georgia Public Service Commission

244 Washington Street, SW

Atlanta, GA 30334-9052
	(800) 282-5813

http://www.psc.state.ga.us/

	Illinois
	Illinois Commerce Commission

Leland Building

527 E. Capitol Avenue

Springfield, IL 62701
	(800) 524-0795

http://www.icc.illinois.gov/home.aspx

	Indiana
	Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission

PNC Center

101 W. Washington Street

Suite 1500E

Indianapolis, IN 46204
	(317) 232-2701

http://www.in.gov/iurc/2346.htm
http://www.in.gov/iurc/


	Kansas
	Kansas Corporation Commission

1500 Southwest Arrowhead Rd

Topeka, KS 66604
	(785) 271-3100

http://www.kcc.state.ks.us/

	Kentucky
	Kentucky Public Service Commission

211 Sower Blvd

Frankfort, KY 40602-0615
	(502) 564-3940

http://www.psc.state.ky.us/

	Louisiana
	Louisiana Public Service Commission

Galvez Building, 12th Floor

602 N. Fifth Street

Baton Rouge, LA 70821
	(225) 342-4999 and (800) 256-2397

http://www.lpsc.org/

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box 91154

Baton Rouge, LA 70821-9154
	

	Michigan
	Michigan Public Service Commission

7109 W Saginaw Highway

Lansing, MI 48917
	(517) 284-8100

http://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box 30221

Lansing, MI 48909
	

	Mississippi
	Mississippi Public Service Commission 

Woolfolk Building

501 North West Street

Jackson, MS 39201-1174
	(601) 961-5400

http://www.psc.state.ms.us/

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box 1174

Jackson, MS 39215-1174
	

	Missouri
	Missouri Public Service Commission

200 Madison Street

Jefferson City, MO 65102
	(573) 751-3234 and (800) 392-4211

http://www.psc.mo.gov/

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box 360

Jefferson City, MO 65102-0360
	

	Nevada
	Public Utilities Commission of Nevada

1150 E William Street

Carson City, NV 89701-3109
	(775) 684-6101
http://puc.state.nv.us/

	North Carolina
	North Carolina Utilities Commission

430 N. Salisbury Street

Dobbs Building

Raleigh, NC 27603-5918
	(919) 733-7328

http://www.ncuc.commerce.state.nc.us/

	
	Mailing Address
	4325 Mail Services Center

Raleigh, NC 27699-4300
	

	Ohio
	Public Utilities Commission of Ohio

180 E. Broad Street

Columbus, OH 43215
	(614) 466-3292 and (800) 686-7826
http://www.puco.ohio.gov/puco.cfm

	Oklahoma
	Oklahoma Corporation Commission Jim Thorpe Office Building

2101 North Lincoln Blvd

Oklahoma City, OK 73105
	(405) 521-2211 (main number)
http://www.occ.state.ok.us/

	South Carolina
	Public Service Commission of South Carolina

101 Executive Center Drive

Suite 100

Columbia, SC 29210
	(803) 896-5100

http://www.psc.sc.gov/

	Tennessee
	Tennessee Regulatory Authority

502 Deaderick Street
Nashville, TN 37243
	(800) 342-8359

http://www.state.tn.gov/tra/

	Texas
	Public Utility Commission of Texas

William B. Travis Bldg.

1701 N. Congress Ave

7th Flr

Austin, TX 78701
	(512) 936-7000

http://www.puc.state.tx.us/

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box 13326

Austin, TX 78711-3326
	

	Wisconsin
	Public Service Commission of Wisconsin

610 N. Whitney Way, 2nd Flr

Madison, WI 53705
	(888) 816-3831

(608) 266-5481

http://psc.wi.gov/index.htm

	
	Mailing Address
	P.O. Box 7854

Madison, WI 53707-7854
	


3.2
IVP Authorization
IVP must obtain from the FCC a “Grant Public Notice” of IVP’s “Numbering Authorization Application” before it can engage directly in LNP activity.  Such IVP must also have a signed IVP OSS Agreement and a CLEC partner before passing orders for LNP or exchanging traffic with AT&T 21-State.  IVP’s CLEC partner must have its partnership with IVP memorialized in CLEC’s ICA with AT&T 21-State.  An IVP that lacks FCC authorization for direct access to telephone numbers can engage in LNP indirectly through a carrier that is both authorized to submit LNP requests and authorized to exchange traffic with AT&T 21-State.
3.3
SBP Authorization

SBP does not obtain regulatory authorization.  However, SBP must obtain a Letter of Authorization for each CLEC, IVP, and WSP it supports and each of those entities must have both the required regulatory authorization and a contract with AT&T 21-State.  SBP, upon request from AT&T 21-State, must provide AT&T 21-State with a copy of its LOAs.
3.4
VPC Authorization

VPC must have state certification or registration or have made a showing to the Routing Number Administrator that a state does not certify VPCs before it can engage directly with AT&T 21-State for administering E911 records on behalf of an IVP.
4
Negotiations, Filings, and Approvals

4.1
Choose an Agreement

Different customers have different service and agreement options.  The following matrix summarizes those options:

	Customer Type
	Service Options
	Agreement Options

	CLEC-using only AT&T’s network
	Resale
	· An Interconnection Agreement containing a Resale Appendix

· A stand-alone Resale Agreement

· Adoption—stand-alone Resale Agreement or ICA Agreement with a Resale Appendix.  Such an adoption is referred to as Most Favored Nations (MFN).

· An Agreement is not needed if CLEC will provide service through a Resale tariff.  Resale tariffs are not available in all AT&T 21-States.

	
	Local Wholesale Complete (LWC)
	· A stand-alone commercial agreement

	CLEC – using only its own network
	Unbundled Network Elements (UNE)
	· An Interconnection Agreement.

· Adoption—of an Interconnection Agreement.  Such an adoption is referred to as Most Favored Nations (MFN)

	CLEC using both its own and AT&T’s Network
	UNE, Resale, LWC
	No single agreement will cover all options; however, the entire range of CLEC agreements are available to select from.

	Stand-alone IVP (IVP is not also a CLEC)
	LNP with OSS
	An Interconnected VoIP Provider Operations Support System and Local Number Portability stand-alone commercial agreement.  IVPs that will use a CLEC partner for traffic exchange should make sure that their desired partner has appropriate contract language in its Interconnection Agreement for such a partnership.

	Combined IVP and CLEC
	UNE, Resale, LWC, LNP with OSS
	Companies that are both a CLEC and an IVP must choose whether to participate as only a CLEC or as both a CLEC and an IVP.  If choosing to participate only as a CLEC, such company would need only the appropriate CLEC agreement(s).  If participating as both a CLEC and an IVP, the company would need CLEC agreement(s) for the CLEC operations and the Interconnected VoIP Provider Operations Support Systems and Local Number Portability agreement for the IVP operations.  Once those agreements are established, such company must separately administer its operations according to the separate agreements.

	WSP
	Not Addressed in this document.
	WSPs should get started by going to AT&T Prime Access and follow the instructions there.

	VoIP Provisioning Center (VPC)
	Stand-alone VPC Agreement
	A stand-alone commercial agreement for an ALI database vendor that, on behalf of IVP, undertakes responsibility for the ALI Database portion of VoIP E911 Emergency Service calls.

	SBP
	OSS
	· A stand-alone commercial agreement authorizing SBP to access AT&T 21-State OSS, Applications, and Tools and to order Local Wholesale products and services, including LNP on behalf of the customers the SBP will serve.  The agreement must cover the customer-type (e.g., CLEC, WSP, IVP, etc.) the SBP will serve
· An SBP’s customer must have its own agreement(s) to:

· access AT&T 21-State OSSs, Applications, and Tools
· order Local Wholesale products and services, including LNP

· The SBP will also need a Letter of Authorization from each of its customers that authorizes SBP to use the customer’s confidential information


4.2
Request Negotiations

4.2.1
Initial Negotiations

The negotiations process is described in a CLEC Online document.  Instructions for locating that document are here.

4.2.1.1
Advance Negotiations

AT&T 21-State will enter into negotiations for the required Agreement prior to CLEC becoming certified or IVP becoming authorized.  However, AT&T 21-State will not execute an agreement until CLEC has obtained certification or IVP has obtained authorization.

4.2.1.2
Most Favored Nations (MFN)

Under Sections 251 and 252 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, a CLEC may adopt another local provider's existing, approved Interconnection Agreement with AT&T 21-State for the specific state where CLEC requests to provide local service.

· The MFN option is not available to IVPs

· An Interconnection Agreement can be adopted only in its entirety; provisions from multiple agreements cannot be combined under an MFN arrangement.

· To the extent provisions in an Interconnection Agreement are on appeal, parties adopting that agreement by MFN must also take the provisions subject to appeal (and implement the results of the appeal).

· For WSP Interconnection Agreements under Section 251 and 252, AT&T 21-State also adheres to MFN only for an entire agreement.
4.2.2
Subsequent Negotiations

4.2.2.1
Amendment Negotiations

An executed agreement may require modification during its life.  Such modification must be recognized in an Amendment.  Amendments negotiated by both parties must be signed by both parties.  After signing, Amendments must follow the same filing and approval process required of the original Agreement.
4.2.2.2
Assignment of Agreements

Agreements generally have requirements to obtain AT&T 21-State’s approval before an agreement can be assigned to a third party, even in the event of a change of ownership.
4.2.2.3
Expiration of an Agreement

All agreements contain a specific term.  At some point prior to the expiration of the term, an Agreement specifies when one party will give notice to the other party to initiate negotiations for a successor agreement.  The timing of the notification will vary from agreement to agreement; however, in all cases, information about the notice period is found in the section of the Agreement that describes the term of the Agreement.

4.3
Agreements Requiring Approval
All CLEC ICAs, and any amendments thereto, must be filed with, and approved by, all relevant state commissions before they can become effective.  The required filing/approval process varies from state to state according to each State Commission’s requirements.  The AT&T 21-State Agreement negotiator will advise of each state’s filing process, as appropriate
After CLEC and AT&T 21-State have concluded negotiations and reached agreement on the language to be used in an ICA, AT&T 21-State will prepare “signature ready” documents for execution by both Parties.  Under §252 (e) (1) of the Act, the agreement must be filed with each relevant State Commission for its approval before the Agreement can become effective.  This approval is required before CLEC can begin using the Agreement to provide local service to its end users.
4.4
Agreements Not Requiring Approval
IVP OSS Agreements, SBP Agreements, and VPC Agreements do not require a commission’s approval.  Once IVP, SBP, or VPC and AT&T 21-State have concluded negotiations and reached agreement on the language to be used, AT&T 21-State will prepare “signature ready” documents for execution by both parties.  When the agreement becomes effective will be found in the section of the Agreement that describes the term of the Agreement.
5
Customer Profile

Customer Profile (Profile) is a web-based application that CLECs and IVPs must complete before submitting an LSR or accessing an AT&T 21-state back office system.  The Customer Profile is segmented into 9 sections, with each section addressing a different functionality, including the ability to define an individual profile as either a CLEC or an IVP profile.  All CLECs and IVPs must complete a profile.  An entity that will operate as both a CLEC and an IVP must complete two profiles:  one CLEC and one IVP.

Once CLEC or IVP have accurately completed its profile(s), AT&T 21-state will process the profile.  This processing typically takes a minimum of 30-business days to complete before CLEC or IVP can submit an LSR.  Instructions for finding the Customer Profile application and its associated tutorial are here.

SBP and VPC do not complete a profile.  Instead, SBP must have a Letter of Authorization from each of its client CLECs or IVPs.  This letter confirms which CLEC and/or IVP has authorized SBP to use their confidential information.  SBP will then use its clients’ IDs and passwords to access AT&T 21-State OSS, applications, and tools and to submit LSRs.  SBP, upon request from AT&T 21-State, must provide AT&T 21-State with a copy of its LOAs.  VPC must provide proof of its E911 Authority approval to provide VPC services
Accessing the Customer Profile application will require a login and password.  This can be obtained by completing and returning the AT&T Company Profile Web Site Administrator ID Request Form.  Instructions for finding that form are here.  Instructions for returning the form are contained within the form.

6
Educate Your Staff

AT&T 21-State has developed a number of courses, both self-paced and leader-led, on the OSSs and other aspects of ordering Local Wholesale Services.  Information regarding available courses can be found in CLEC Online and instructions for finding the information are here.
Another educational resource is the CLEC Online Website.  CLEC Online is the main portal into documentation on Local Wholesale products, services, and processes.  It contains a CLEC Handbook for each state/region.  Each handbook provides a wide variety of product and ordering information of importance to CLECs, IVPs, and SBPs.  Much of the documentation contained in the CLEC Online Website was written originally for CLECs.  Such documentation generally applies equally to IVPs if the product, service, or process is supported by IVP’s IVP OSS Agreement.  Instructions for finding the handbooks are here.

7
Obtaining OSS Access

7.1
IS Call Center
CLEC, IVP and SBP should notify their Wholesale Support Specialist when they want to establish electronic connections to an AT&T 21-State’s remote access facility.  The WSS will work with CLEC, IVP, or SBP to identify the functions it wants to perform and to associate those functions with the corresponding application.  Information on how to initiate access to AT&T 21-State OSS, Applications, and tools is in CLEC Online and instructions for finding the information are here.

Once CLEC, IVP, or SBP has obtained authorization to access a remote access facility, all future communications regarding connectivity and application functions should be referred to the IS Call Center.  The IS Call Center is the primary contact for answering OSS questions and resolving OSS problems, including, but not limited to, installation and configuration of software, correcting hardware/software anomalies, expired passwords, and application problems.
The group email address to contact a WSS is here.  Contact information for the IS Call Center is located in CLEC Online and instructions for locating the information are here.

7.2
Establish a Site Administrator
The terms “CLEC Company Profile Web Site Administrator”, “Security Administrator”, “Site Administrator”, and “Site Coordinator” appear in various CLEC Online documents.  These are all terms for the same entity and this document will use the single term Site Administrator.

A Site Administrator is the IS Call Center’s single point of contact with CLEC, IVP, and SBP.  Each company should designate two employees (one for back-up) as its Site Administrators.  AT&T 21-State’s process for establishing OSS and application User IDs is to provide the Site Administrator with a block of IDs, which the Site Administer will then manage for his or her company.  No employee other than a Site Administrator is authorized to contact the IS Call Center to obtain IDs or passwords, including resets.  If CLEC, IVP, or SBP cannot identify its two Site Administrators, it should work with its SrCAM to establish a new Site Administrator(s).
8
Communications
Throughout the course of their business dealings, CLECs, IVPs, SBPs and AT&T 21-State will have need to contact each other during the regular course of business.  AT&T 21-State maintains several communication channels, depending on the issue that requires contact by CLECs, IVPs, and SBPs.
8.1
Individual Notifications
Individual notifications are Notifications addressed specifically in the parties’ Agreement(s).  Such notifications include, but are not limited to, termination, breaches of contract, changes of law, etc.  For those notifications, the Agreement specifies how and to whom the notification must be made.
8.2
Accessible Letters (Mass Notification)
AT&T 21-State uses Accessible Letters (ALs) to communicate information necessary for all customers to effectively transact business with AT&T 21-State.  Accessible letters are delivered electronically (emailed) according to each customer’s subscription list.  Accessible Letters and how customers manage their subscription lists are addressed in greater detail in the “Access to OSS, Applications, and Tools – User Guide” document in CLEC Online.  Instructions for locating that document are here.

8.3
Account Management

CLEC and IVP account issues are generally handled by one of two account management groups:
Wholesale Support Specialist (WSS)
For purposes of this document, a WSS supports CLEC and IVP getting started efforts to complete their Profile and gain access to OSS.  To contact a WSS, use the email address here.
Senior Carrier Account Manager SrCAM
For purposes of this document, a SrCAM provides a primary point of contact, once CLEC or IVP has completed its applicable getting started activities.

8.4
Support Centers
Instructions for contacting the various AT&T 21-State support teams are located in CLEC Online.  There is a link on the CLEC Online home page to:  “Customer Service Contact”.  Instructions for finding the link are here.

8.5
Dispute Resolution

Information on how to initiate either a formal or an informal dispute with AT&T 21-State is located in CLEC Online and instructions for finding the information are here.

9
Interconnection Trunking & Forecasting

Companies connecting directly to AT&T 21-State for the mutual exchange of traffic must provide AT&T 21-State with trunk forecast information as follows:
· Project initial trunking requirements taking into account such variables as anticipated customer volumes, distribution of traffic by originating and terminating destinations, and peak-hour loading etc.

· Provide semi-annual trunk forecasts.

10
Link Navigation Instructions
10.1
AT&T Company Profile Web Site Administrator ID Request Form

CLEC Online
· Select IS Call Center

· Select Downloads/User ID/Forms

· Select AT&T 21-State Company Profile Web Site Administrator ID Request Form (Word Document)
10.2
Customer Education (Training)

10.2.1
Self-Paced

CLEC Online
· Select CLEC Education

· Select Self-Paced Courses

· Select the link appropriate for your training needs

10.2.2
Train-the-Trainer Course

CLEC Online
· Select CLEC Education

· Select Courses

· Select Course Descriptions (Word Document) for a list of available courses
10.3
CLEC Handbook
CLEC Online
· Select CLEC Handbook
· Select applicable state/region
· Handbook Sections are listed in the links on the left-hand side of the page.  Select the link most relevant to your research
10.4
Customer Profile
CLEC Online
· Select Getting Started

· Select 21 State Customer Profile

· Select 21-State Customer Profile

· Select Web-Based 21 State Customer Profile (Link to Site) and enter password and ID or
· Select among the links for the content appropriate to your research
10.5
Customer Service Contacts
CLEC Online
· Select link titled “Customer Service Contacts” from the center of the page

10.6
Dispute Resolution
CLEC Online
· Select CLEC Handbook
· Select applicable state/region
· Select Billing

· Select Billing Forms and References

· Select Dispute Resolution – Formal Informal (Word Document)
10.7
IS Call Center Contacts

CLEC Online
· Select IS Call Center from left-hand side of home page

· Select How to Contact Us
10.8
Local Number Portability
CLEC Online
· CLEC Handbook
· Select applicable state/region
· Select Products & Services
· Select Local Number Portability

· In MW region, select Local Number Portability again

· Select 21-State Local Number Portability (Word Document)
10.9
The Negotiations Process

CLEC Online
· Select Getting Started

· Select The Negotiations Process

10.10
Negotiations Email Address and Fax Number
CLEC Online
· Select Getting Started

· Select The Negotiations Process and locate the fax and email address for Director – Interconnection Agreements (search on the word email for a quick find)
 10.11
Email Address for WSS

rm-whslsupportteam@intl.att.com 

10.12
OSS, Applications and Tools User Guide

CLEC Online
· Select Getting Started

· Select Operations Support Systems

· Select OSS, Applications, and Tools – User Guide
· Select Access to OSS, Applications, and Tools – User Guide (Word Document)

Or
CLEC Online
· Select CLEC Handbook

· Select applicable state/region

· Select OSS

· Select Operations Support Systems

· Select Access to OSS Tools – User Guide (Word Document)
10.13
OSS Interconnection Procedures

CLEC Online
· Select IS Call Center

· Select OSS Requirements

· Select OSS Interconnection Procedures

· Select OSS Interconnection Procedures again (Word Document)
10.14
WSP Profile

AT&T Prime Access
· Select Products & Services

· Select Become a Provider
· Select Steps to Become a Provider
· Select WSP Profile (Word Docment) or

· Select WSP Profile Instructions (Word Document)
11
Glossary/Abbreviations

	Abbreviation
	Term
	Definition

	ALI
	Automatic Location Identification
	The automatic display at the Public Safety Answering Point of the caller’s telephone number, the address and/or location of the telephone and, in some cases, supplementary emergency information.

	
	AT&T 9-state
	AT&T’s Southeast Region, formerly known as BellSouth

	
	AT&T 12-state
	A combination of AT&T’s Midwest Southwest, and West regions that were formerly known as SBC.

	
	AT&T 21-state
	A combination of AT&T’s 9-state and 12-state regions.

	
	AT&T Midwest Region
	A combination of AT&T Illinois, AT&T Indiana, AT&T Michigan, AT&T Ohio, and AT&T Wisconsin

	
	AT&T Southeast Region
	A combination of AT&T Alabama, AT&T Florida, AT&T Georgia, AT&T Kentucky, AT&T Louisiana, AT&T Mississippi, AT&T North Carolina, AT&T South Carolina, and AT&T Tennessee.

	
	AT&T Southwest Region
	A combination of AT&T Arkansas, AT&T Kansas, AT&T Missouri, AT&T Oklahoma, and AT&T Texas

	
	AT&T West Region
	A combination of AT&T California and AT&T Nevada.

	CLEC
	Competitive Local Exchange Carrier
	A company certified by a state regulatory commission to provide local exchange telephone service.

	
	E911 Authority
	A municipality or other state or local government unit, or an authorized agent of one or more municipalities or other state or local government units to whom authority has been lawfully delegated to respond to public emergency telephone calls, at a minimum, for emergency police and fire services through the user of one telephone number, 911.  For clarity, an E911 Authority may be an individual PSAP or an entity responsible for the management and operation of multiple PSAPs within a given geographic area.

	ICA
	Interconnection Agreement
	A contract between AT&T 21-State ILECs and a CLEC for the mutual exchange of local traffic on a TDM network.

	IVP
	Interconnected Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) Provider
	As defined by the F.C.C., but generally, it is a company that provides VoIP services that are capable of receiving calls from the Public Switched Telephone Network (PSTN) and terminating calls to the PSTN.

	LNP
	Local Number Portability
	The ability of telecommunications customers to retain, at the same location, their existing telephone numbers when switching from one telephone service provider to another.

	LSR
	Local Service Request
	A request form carriers use to request services from one another.  In the case of LNP, LSRs are used to port an end-user between trading partners.  The LSR uses standardized fields defined by the Ordering and Billing Forum of ATIS.

	LWC
	Local Wholesale Complete
	A commercially available, contracted service offering of AT&T that provides the technology packages, operational support capabilities, and certain ancillary services supporting the provision of local exchange service by a carrier on an AT&T switch.

	NENA
	National Emergency Number Association
	For purposes of this document, NENA is an organization that promotes 911.  Its mission is to foster technological advancement, availability, and implementation of 911 systems.

	PSAP
	Public Safety Answering Point
	An answering location for E911 calls originating in a given area.  

	OSS
	Operations Support System
	The suite of functions that permits a customer to interface to the ILEC for pre-ordering, ordering, provisioning, maintenance/ repair and billing as described in the customer’s authorizing contract.

	SrCAM
	Senior Carrier Account Manager
	An AT&T 21-State employee who provides a primary point of contact for each CLEC or IVP purchasing local services, including Local Number Portability.

	TPA
	Trading Partner Agreement
	The Wireless version of an Interconnection Agreement

	UNE
	Unbundled Network Element
	Pieces of the network that Incumbent Local Exchange Companies are required to offer on an unbundled basis.

	VPC
	VoIP Positioning Center
	For purposes of this document, an Automatic Location Identification (ALI) Database vendor that is responsible for the ALI Database portion of a VoIP E911 call.

	WSP
	Wireless Service Provider
	A carrier that possesses a license from the FCC to provide wireless telephone service.

	WSS
	Wholesale Support Specialist
	For purposes of this document, a WSS supports start-up CLEC and IVP efforts to complete their Profile and gain access to OSSs.


� Interconnected VoIP Providers that do not have a “Grant Public Notice” announcing the auto-grant of its Numbering Authorization Application with the FCC do not engage the AT&T ILECs directly.  Instead, they engage indirectly by partnering with an entity (generally a CLEC) that can engage directly with an AT&T ILEC.








